JUL 1 1 2014

COURT OF APPEALS
DIVISION III
STATE OF WASHINGTON
By

No. 32197-5-III

# **COURT OF APPEALS**

**DIVISION III** 

OF

# THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

State of Washington, Respondent

v.

Erin E. McGovern, *Appellant* 

Appeal from the Superior Court of Spokane County

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Attorney for Appellant Erin McGovern:
Douglas D. Phelps, WSBA #22620
Phelps & Associates
N. 2903 Stout Rd.
Spokane, WA 99206
(509) 892-0467

### I. INTRODUCTION

On August 06, 2012 Ms. Erin Elizabeth McGovern was charged by information (CP 4-5) with Count I possession of a controlled substance methamphetamine, Count II possession of another's identification, Count III possession of a controlled substance alprazolam, and Count IV possession of a controlled substance methylphenidate. A jury trial was held on November 25, 2013 before the Honorable John O. Cooney in Superior Court of Spokane County, Washington. The jury returned a verdict of guilty on all four counts on November 27, 2014. (CP 137-140) The court sentenced Ms. McGovern on December 11, 2013 (CP 164-168) and a timely appeal was filed. (CP 173-174)

## II. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR and ISSUE STATEMENTS

- Whether the Superior Court committed reversible error by failing to grant a
  motion for mistrial when the government introduced evidence that the
  defendant asserted her constitutional rights under the Fourth Amendment
  and Article I § 7.
- 2. Whether the Superior Court committed reversible error in denying motions to suppress evidence based upon illegal detention and search.
- 3. Whether the Superior Court committed reversible error in failing to dismiss counts based upon insufficient evidence.

#### III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On November 07, 2013 a suppression hearing was held before the Honorable Gregory D. Sypolt. (CP 23-54;72-75) The court denied the motion to suppress the evidence. (VRP 11/7/2013 p. 39-46) At a presentment hearing held on November 21, 2013 the defense presented proposed findings of fact and conclusions of law. (VRP 11/21/2013 p. 48/CP 78-81) The government presented their own findings of facts and conclusions of law. (VRP 11/21/2013 p. 50-51) The court adopted the prosecutions proposed order. (VRP 11/21/2013 p. 51-52/CP 88-91)

On November 25, 2013 motions in limine and a 3.5 hearing were held before the Honorable John Cooney. The defense sought to exclude evidence of uncharged crimes. (VRP 11/25/2013 p. 8) The government stated that they intended to introduce why the officer obtained a search warrant. (VRP 11/25/2013 p. 8 lines 15-22) The defense argued why a search warrant was obtained was irrelevant to the jury. (VRP 11/25/2013 p. 9) The defense argues that items unrelated to the charges before the court should be excluded and not used to "impugn my client's integrity" and to convict her based upon facts that aren't relevant to this case or would be unduly prejudicial under 404(b). (VRP 11/25/2013 p. 9 lines 17-23)

The state argues that the basis for the search warrant is relevant. (VRP 11/25/2013 p. 11 lines 14-24) The defense stated that was decided as a question of

law (VRP 11/25/2013 p. 11 lines 25 to pg. 12 line 5) which is not before the jury. The defense objected to the government introducing these facts before the jury to impugn the defendant's character and irrelevant facts would leave the case open to a mistrial. (VRP 11/25/2013 p. 12) The defense argued "The propriety of the search or the search warrant was not for the jury to decide." (VRP 11/25/2013 p. 13) The court ruled evidence of the basis of the warrant and contraband should not be admitted. (VRP 11/25/2013 p. 60-61) The defense asks the court to consider a continuing objection under the Fourth Amendment, Article I § 7, and *Arizona v. Gant* to this evidence. (VRP 11/25/2013 p. 12 lines 6-12)

Ms. Erin McGovern testified she was a passenger in the front seat of the BMW on June 19, 2012 stopped in Spokane County. (VRP 11/7/2013 p. 7) The police removed the driver and the other passenger. (VRP 11/7/2013 – pg. 7) Then they told Ms. McGovern to get out. (VRP 11/7/2013 p. 7-8) She was taken to the front of the BMW and ordered to empty her pockets. (VRP 11/7/2013 p. 8) There were two officers present at the stop and they searched her. (VRP 11/7/2013 p. 9) She was told to stay in front of the car and the police kept her identification. (VRP 11/7/2013 p. 9)

As the police searched the BMW she objected and was moved from the front of the vehicle to the back of the car and handcuffed when (VRP 11/7/2013 p. 10) she stated they could not search the car. (VRP 11/7/2013 p. 11) She observed they were searching her things and she told them again they could not search.

(VRP 11/7/2013 p. 11 lines 10-17) She kept asking questions because they said she was not arrested but she was handcuffed. (VRP 11/7/2013 p. 11 lines 21-25) When she kept asking about being handcuffed but not arrested she was read her rights. (VRP 11/7/2013 p. 12) The police continued to search her bags. (VRP 11/7/2013 p. 13) The police left them along the interstate just inside Spokane County and towed the car. (VRP 11/7/2013 p. 14)

The defense argued State v. Parker applied to this case. (VRP 11/7/2013 p. 23/CP 23-54/CP 72-75) The deputy searched the compartments and packages without a warrant. (VRP 11/7/2013 p. 11 lines 10-17/CP 28) (VRP 11/7/2013 p. 29) An arrest occurred in handcuffing her outside of the car and detaining her as the search was conducted. (VRP 11/7/2013 p. 29) It was argued the stop was pretext, and it was an unreasonable detention to remove the people from the BMW. (VRP 11/7/2013 p. 31) The defense argues inaccuracies in the search warrant affidavit requires a Franks hearing. (VRP 11/7/2013 p. 31-32/CP 23-54;72-75) The defense argues that the questioning about the relationship of the occupants amounted to an investigation beyond the scope of the speeding infraction. (VRP 11/7/2013 p. 34-35) Further this investigation violated Article I § 7 and was a pre-text stop. (VRP 11/7/2013 p. 36-37/CP 23-54;72-75) Suppression of all the evidence obtained from the warrantless stop, search, and detention of Ms. McGovern was requested. (VRP 11/7/2013 p. 37 lines 17 to pg. 38)

At a 3.5 hearing Deputy Nathan Bohanek testified the white BMW was stopped for traveling 75mph in a 70mph zone. (VRP 11/25/2013 p.18) Ms. McGovern was seated in the front seat passengers. (VRP 11/25/2013 p. 18) Three people were seated in the vehicle and Deputy Bohanek advised the driver that the stop was due to speeding and tinted windows. (VRP 11/25/2013 p. 19) Deputy Bohanek was assigned to the Criminal Interdiction Team which tries to "interdict criminal activity." (VRP 11/25/2013 p. 29) He was assigned to a "special unit working the highway based on a grant from the state patrol." (VRP 11/25/2013 p. 29-30) They were looking for drug activity on Interstate 90 that day. (VRP 11/25/2013 p. 31) The real reason they were out there that day was looking for drugs, weapons, persons wanted on warrants, and criminal activity. (VRP 11/25/2013 p. 31) He was talking to the driver from the passenger's front side where Ms. McGovern was seated. (VRP 11/25/2013 p. 33)

When Deputy Bohanek inquired who owned the vehicle Ms. McGovern responded, "Victor Antoine." Upon learning the driver of the vehicle had a suspended driver's license she was ordered from the vehicle. (VRP 11/25/213 p. 20) Noting inconsistencies in the driver's story he sought the driver's permission to search the car. (VRP 11/25/2013 p. 21) The driver, non-owner, consented to the search of the vehicle while Ms. McGovern remained in the car. (VRP 11/25/2013 p. 21) The police then "began pulling the remaining two occupants from the vehicle." (VRP 11/25/2013 p. 21) The other two occupants including Ms.

McGovern were searched and Cpl. Elliott stood with them while Deputy Bohanek searched the vehicle. (VRP 11/25/2013 p. 22) Ms. McGovern had no choice about exiting the vehicle when told to exit. (VRP 11/25/2013 p. 36 lines 20-25) He did not get permission from Ms. McGovern to search the area of the vehicle where she was seated. (VRP 11/25/2013 p. 37) As he was searching the vehicle Ms. McGovern protested that he could not search the vehicle. (VRP 11/25/2013 p. 37 lines 10-13) He told Ms. McGovern he did not need her permission. (VRP 11/25/2013 p. 37) Ms. McGovern was told he would search the vehicle including the area she was in. (VRP 11/25/2013 p. 38)

Deputy Bohanek found in the backseat a satchel or bag with two laptop computers. (VRP 11/25/2013 p. 22 lines 22-25) Deputy Bohanek claimed that Ms. McGovern told him the bag belonged to her and she did not want him to search the bag. (VRP 11/25/2013 p. 23) In the front passenger's seat area he found two purses. (VRP 11/25/2013 p. 25) One purse was larger and there was a smaller purse belonging he believed to a female. (VRP 11/25/2013 p. 25) Ms. McGovern told him those were her bags and denied consent to search the bags.

In the glove box was also a Leatherman's wallet with credit cards belonging to Victor Antoine and Tyson Andrew. The vehicle was then seized and towed from the scene to obtain a search warrant. (VRP 11/25/2013 p. 27) All three occupants were left alongside the highway. (VRP 11/25/2013 p. 27) The driver was issued a criminal citation for driving while license suspended. (VRP

11/25/2013 p. 39) He did not allow the occupants to remove any of their belongings. (VRP 11/25/2013 p. 40) He failed to mention these bags when he prepared his affidavit to search the vehicle. (VRP 11/25/2013 p. 40 lines 5-17/CP 23-54;72-75) He never read Miranda warnings that day because he did not believe the occupants of the vehicle were detained. (VRP 11/25/2013 p. 41)

The Deputy testifies that he obtained written consent to search the vehicle after he completed the search. (VRP 11/25/2013 p. 47-48) The vehicle he drove for the pace had never been certified for accuracy. (VRP 11/25/2013 p. 48)

Defense renewed the 3.6 motion arguing that the stop was without a reasonable basis because the squad car was not certified as accurate. (VRP 11/25/2013 p. 54) Further, the officers were working as a drug interdiction team. The court then denied the motion to suppress. (VRP 11/25/2013 p. 55; p. 76-80)

At trial Deputy Bohanek testified he was driving with a Cpl. Elliott on June 19, 2012. (VRP 11/25/2013 p. 87) The BMW was stopped based upon Deputy Bohanek's estimate that the BMW was traveling over the posted 70 mph speed limit. (VRP 11/25/2013 p. 89) He contacted the driver at the passenger side window. (VRP 11/25/2013 p. 90) When he asked who owned the vehicle Ms. McGovern stated the owner was Victor Antoine. (VRP 11/25/2013 p. 91) He determined the driver had a suspended license and the car was not registered to Victor Antoine. (VRP 11/25/2013 p. 91-92)

The driver was removed from the car (VRP 11/25/2013 p. 92 lines 9-13) and she authorized the vehicle search. (VRP 11/25/2013 p. 93 line 22) The passengers including Ms. McGovern were removed from the car and frisked. (VRP 11/25/2013 p. 94)

In the back seat he found a satchel with two laptop computers in the bag. (VRP 11/25/2013 p. 95) The prosecution, over defense objection, asked if anyone claimed the bag. The deputy testified Ms. McGovern claimed the bag. The deputy stated that Ms. McGovern "did not want me to search the bag." (VRP 11/25/2013 p. 96 lines 15-20) The defense moved for a mistrial (VRP 11/25/2013 p. 96 lines 18-25) because the prosecution introduced testimony that Ms. McGovern refused under the Fourth Amendment and Article I §7 to allow the search of her property. (VRP 11/25/2013 p. 97)

The defense argued that introducing this violates her right to assert her constitutional rights and not have the assertion of her rights used as evidence against her . (VRP 11/25/2013 p. 97 lines 1-20) The government responds that the reason the officer didn't search the bag was relevant. The prosecution asks the court give a curative instruction rather than granting a mistrial. (VRP 11/25/2013 p. 98 lines 7-15) The court took a brief recess for the defense to obtain case law to support the mistrial motion. (VRP 11/25/2013 p. 98)

The court returns to the bench without the jury and cites *State v. Gauthier*, 174 Wn. App. 257 which cites *United States v. Prescott* from the 9<sup>th</sup> Circuit and

State v. Burke from the Washington Supreme Court. The court states that the two cases stand for the proposition that "like the defendant's Fifth Amendment right, the Fourth Amendment right may not —when they assert that right, it may not be introduced at trial as substantive evidence of guilt." (VRP 11/25/2013 p. 99 lines 13-22) The defense points out that the three cases cited here include State v. Gauthier, 174 Wn. App. 257 (2013), United States v. Prescott, 581 F.2d 1343 (1978), and State v. Burke, 163 Wn.2d 204 (2008) (VRP 11/25/2013 p. 100)

The court states this is troublesome because in *Gauthier* the court held the prosecutor's use of the defendant's constitutional right to refuse a warrantless search as substantive evidence of guilt was manifest constitutional error properly raised for the first time on appeal. That error deprived him of his right to invoke with impunity the protection of the Fourth Amendment. (VRP 11/25/2013 p. 100 lines 13-21) Here, the court believes it was offered for a different purpose and not as substantive evidence of guilt. (VRP 11/25/2013 p. 100 lines 22-25) It was offered here briefly as a basis why a warrant was obtained. (VRP 11/25/2013 p. 11 lines 22-25)

The defense requests a curative instruction. (VRP 11/25/2013 p. 101 line 16) The defense argues that no curative instruction will cure the jury "wondering why would she not allow them to search her items; that must mean that there's something in those items that she didn't want anyone to know about. It impugns her right to not be searched and suggests in some fashion she is guilty of the crime

charged here. (VRP 11/25/2013 p. 102 lines 3-9)....a curative instruction would not adequately address the problem raised by the government's introduction of evidence that's not relevant, evidence that's highly prejudicial and that is violative of my client's Fourth Amendment and Article I § 7 right to require law enforcement to get a search warrant before they search her personal items." (VRP 11/25/2013 p. 102 lines 10-19) The defense points out that each time the police discuss obtaining the warrant they ring the bell again. (VRP 11/25/2013 p. 103 lines 1-4) The court proposes a curative instruction reading: "That testimony was provided that the defendant did not consent to a search; you are not to consider this evidence during your deliberations....." (VRP 11/25/2013 p. 103 lines 14-18).... "but or infer guilt in anyway." (VRP 11/25/2013 p. 103 lines 23-24) The court grants the motion to not allow testimony of the defendant's exercise of her Fourth Amendment Rights. (VRP 11/25/2013 p. 104 lines 13-16) The defense requests it also be given in written instructions to the jury. (VRP 11/25/2013 p. 104 lines 17-20)

The jury returns to the instruction: "Testimony was offered that the defendant did not consent to a search. You are not to consider this evidence during your deliberations nor are you to infer guilt in any way based on this evidence." (VRP 11/25/2013 p. 105 lines 6-9)

Deputy Bohanek is asked if he determined ownership of the bag in the back seat. The defense objected to introduction of the statements based upon 3.5

and *Miranda*. (VRP 11/25/2013 p. 105 lines 20-22) The court noted the objection and allowed the testimony. (VRP 11/25/2013 p. 105 line 22) The deputy stated he then continued to search the front passenger's seat and the bags and purse were found on the front passenger's seat. (VRP 11/25/2013 p. 105) The deputy testified that Ms. McGovern told him the bags were her bags. (VRP 11/25/2013 p. 105-106) The vehicle was seized and taken to a secured facility to await a search warrant. (VRP 11/25/2013 p. 107-108)

The defense objected to evidence from the search based upon the motion previously made. (VRP 11/25/2013 p. 109) In the black purse found on the front seat was an Idaho identification card with three Washington identification cards. (VRP 11/25/2013 p. 110) The defense renews the motion for mistrial at which time the court conducts a conference at the bench outside the hearing of the jurors. The court states that the pretrial ruling excluded contraband in the vehicle. The defense notes that several identifications involve uncharged crimes which should not be introduced because they are irrelevant and highly prejudicial under 404(b). (VRP 11/25/2013 p. 111) The defense renews the prior objections to references to the search. (VRP 11/25/2013 p. 112) The court denies the motions on items found in the bags. (VRP 11/25/2013 p. 112)

Deputy Bohanek identifies exhibit 6 which was an evidence envelope. (VRP 11/25/2013 p. 112-113) The deputy identifies three identification cards from Washington and one identification card from Idaho belonged to Ms.

McGovern. (VRP 11/25/2013 p. 112-113) The items were admitted subject to the defenses prior objections. (VRP 11/25/2013 p. 114) The prosecution offered exhibit 5 containing a black cylinder with a screw on lid containing a white crystalline substance. Also found in the purse were two Camel brand smokeless tobacco containers which contained a variety of prescription medications. (VRP 11/25/2013 p. 115) The pills were peach colored, yellow colored, and some white powder. (VRP 11/25/2013 p. 117) The defense objects on the white powder being admitted. (VRP 11/25/2013 p. 117) The prosecution hands the deputy P1, P2, P3, and P7 which he identifies as evidence envelopes sent to the evidence lab. (VRP 11/25/2013 p. 119)

The deputy testifies he was working criminal interdiction. (VRP 11/25/2013 p. 132): "We were attempting to contact people conducting or engaged in criminal behavior." (VRP 11/25/2013 p. 132-133) The deputy testified that they had no radar unit in the police car. (VRP 11/25/2013 p. 133) That he used traffic stops as a reason to stop vehicles looking for criminal activity. (VRP 11/25/2013 p. 133 lines 15-17) The deputy testified that he was suspicious because he was looking for other criminal activity. (VRP 11/25/2013 p. 135 lines 18-21) The vehicle stopped was a four door 1995 BMW 318. (VRP 11/25/2013 p. 136) The deputy testifies the consent to search the vehicle was signed at 1426 hours, (VRP 11/25/2013 p. 138) after the police searched the vehicle. (VRP 11/25/2013 p. 138) The deputy testifies Ms. McGovern was read her *Miranda* 

warnings at 1409 hours. (VRP 11/25/2013 p. 143) The stop occurred at 1340 hours according to the deputy. (VRP 11/25/2013 p. 143) Ms. McGovern was told to exit the vehicle and she was searched for weapons. (VRP 11/25/2013 p. 143)

Brendan Cassida testified that exhibit 5 contained his driver's license. (VRP 11/25/2013 p. 155) The driver's license was taken several years before in a car prowl which may have occurred in January 2012. (VRP 11/25/2013 p. 155-156) He never gave Ms. McGovern permission to have his driver's license. (VRP 11/25/2013 p. 156) The prosecution moves to admit P5 which the defense objects to based upon search violations. (VRP 11/25/2013 p. 156) The court admitted P5. (VRP 11/25/2013 p. 156) The defense makes a continuing objection to evidence admitted based upon prior motions. (VRP 166)

Deputy Bohanek is recalled and questioned about who he asked to consent to the search of the vehicle. (VRP 11/26/2013 p. 169) The defense objects to the reopening of this area of questioning because of the courts prior ruling on the mistrial. (VRP 11/26/2013 p. 169) The court overruled the objection to the reopening of the consent to search issue. (VRP 11/26/2013 p. 169) The prosecutor then asks the deputy if he asked anyone else for consent to search. (VRP 11/26/2013 p. 169 line 17) The deputy claimed "I didn't need to." (VRP 11/26/2013 p. 169 line 16)

The states next witness was Devon Hause who works at the Washington State Patrol Crime Lab in Cheney, Washington. (VRP 11/26/2013 p. 193) She has

a bachelor's degree from Eastern Washington University with an emphasis in forensic science. She is certified by the American Board of Criminalistics in drug analysis. (VRP 11/26/2013 p. 194) The witness identified P4 as a lab report.

After a break the jurors return to the court and Ms. Hause returns to the stand testifies over defense objection. (VRP 11/26/2013 p. 208) The witness is given item number 11 which she identifies as a part of a pill. (VRP 11/26/2013 p. 210) The pill was identified as methylphenidate or Ritalin which is a stimulant. (VRP 11/26/2013 p. 211) The court then admitted P1 on the states motion. The court grants the admission of P1 noting the defense objections. (VRP 11/26/2013 p. 211)

The prosecutor then gives Ms. Hause item number 13 which was alprazolam or Xanax. (VRP 11/26/2013 p. 212) It was explained that it is an anti-anxiety drug. (VRP 11/26/2013 p. 212) It was identified as a controlled substance. (VRP 11/26/13 p. 213)

Then the witness identifies item number 27 and exhibit P7. The envelope contained......could not say what was in the bag. (VRP 11/26/2013 p. 225)

Exhibit P7 (item 27) was admitted into evidence. (VRP 11/26/2013 p. 227) The state rested and the defense stated that it had a motion. (VRP 11/26/2013 p. 230)

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