I.  APPELLANT’S ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

1. The trial court erroneously denied defendant’s motion for a 

mistrial. 

2. The trial court erroneously denied defendant’s motion to suppress 

evidence. 

3. The trial court erroneously denied defendant’s motion to dismiss 

the charged offenses for insufficient evidence.

II. ISSUES PRESENTED 

1. Did the trial court abuse its discretion by denying a motion for a 

mistrial based on the admission of evidence? 

2. Did the trial court abuse its discretion by denying the defendant’s 

suppression motion? 

3. Did the trial court abuse its discretion by denying the defendant’s 

motion to dismiss the charged offenses for insufficient evidence? 

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

The respondent accepts appellant’s statement of the case for 

purposes of this appeal only.  

IV. ARGUMENT 

A. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION IN 

DENYING DEFENDANT’S MOTION FOR A MISTRIAL. 

Defendant claims that the trial court erred when it denied her 

motion for a mistrial based upon the admission of evidence. Defendant 
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contends that her rights under the United States Constitution, Fourth 

Amendment, and Washington Constitution, Art. I, §7, were violated by the 

admission of her statement to investigating officers that she did not 

consent to a satchel being searched. Defendant argues that the admission 

of this evidence constituted a violation because it was used as substantive 

evidence of her guilt and that the prejudice was not cured by the trial 

court’s curative instruction. 

Here, the evidence is undisputed that Spokane County Sheriff 

Deputies made a traffic stop of a vehicle that was speeding on 

Interstate 90 in Spokane County, Washington, on June 19, 2012. CP 169-

171; RP 89-90. The driver of the vehicle was driving with a suspended 

license and could not provide a vehicle registration or proof of insurance. 

CP 169-171; RP 90. Of the three people in the vehicle, no one could 

accurately provide the name of the registered owner of the vehicle. 

CP 169-171; RP 91-92. The defendant volunteered the incorrect name 

“Victor Antoine” as the registered owner despite not being asked. CP 169-

171; RP 91.  

The circumstances prompted the deputies to request the driver’s 

consent to search the vehicle. The driver gave the deputies verbal and, 

later, written consent to search the vehicle. CP 169-171; RP 93-94, 136-

141. Deputies requested that the three occupants of the vehicle exit to 
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facilitate the consented search. CP 169-171; RP 94, 147-148. In plain view 

in the back seat of the vehicle, deputies found shaved car keys which are 

commonly known to be used to steal cars, an open alcohol container, and a 

credit card that did not match the identity of anyone in the vehicle. CP 88-

91, 169-171. In the vehicle glove box deputies found a digital scale with a 

dusting of a white crystalline powder which they suspected was 

methamphetamine, a controlled substance. CP 169-171; RP 107. The 

search of the trunk discovered another digital scale with a similar dusting 

of a white crystalline substance and a vest containing pistol ammunition. 

CP 169-171; RP 94. In the back seat, deputies found a bag with two laptop 

computers in plain view which the defendant identified as hers and denied 

deputies consent to search. CP 169-171; RP 95. Deputies set the bag aside 

and did not search it at that time. CP 169-171; RP 105. In the front area of 

the vehicle near the passenger seat where defendant had been seated, 

deputies observed a large purse and a smaller purse that was sitting in the 

bucket passenger seat. CP 169-171; RP 106. The defendant identified both 

purses as being hers and requested that those not be searched. The 

deputies did not search the purses pursuant to the defendant’s instructions. 

CP 169-171; RP 105-106.  

Deputies determined that the circumstances directed that the 

vehicle be impounded and a search warrant requested. CP 169-171; 
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RP 107. Deputy Bohanek called for a contract tow of the vehicle, cited the 

driver for traffic offenses, and released all three occupants at the scene. 

CP 169-171; RP 108-109. The defendant was neither handcuffed nor 

arrested. CP 169-171; RP 108. On June 21, 2012, Deputy Bohanek 

obtained a search warrant for the impounded vehicle and the defendant’s 

bag and purses. CP 88-91; RP 108. The search of the larger purse 

discovered several photo-identifications of the defendant. CP 88-91; 

RP 110-113. The search of the smaller purse revealed: (1) a small cylinder 

which tested positive for methamphetamine, (2) a credit card and the 

Washington State driver’s license of “Brendan Cassida,” and, (3) two 

tobacco tins which contained 199 pills which included 6 different 

scheduled substances and 9 legend drugs. CP 88-91; RP 114-116. Upon 

contact, Brendan Cassida advised that the defendant did not have 

permission to possess his driver’s license. CP88-91; RP 155-156.  

Pursuant to the defendant’s pretrial suppression motion and the 

record created, the trial court concluded that the traffic stop for speeding 

was valid. CP 88-91; RP 40, 42. The questioning of the three vehicle 

occupants was reasonable. CP 88-91; RP 41. The three occupants were 

appropriately asked to exit the vehicle based upon officer safety concerns. 

CP 88-91; RP 41, 43. The search of the vehicle was consensual and valid 

based upon the driver’s initial verbal, and later, written consent. CP 88-91; 
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RP 43. The search of the vehicle and its contents pursuant to the search 

warrant was valid and lawful. CP 88-91; RP 43. The search warrant 

sufficiently described the subject and objective of the search and was 

based upon probable cause. CP 88-91; RP 43-45.  

A trial court’s denial of a motion for a mistrial is reviewed 

for abuse of discretion. A mistrial should be granted when 

the defendant has been so prejudiced that nothing short of a 

new trial can insure that the defendant will be tried fairly. A 

denial of a motion for mistrial should be overturned only 

when there is a substantial likelihood that the prejudice 

affected the verdict. … Thus, when a trial irregularity 

occurs, the court must decide its prejudicial effect. ‘In 

determining the effect of an irregularity, the court examines 

(1) its seriousness; (2) whether it involved cumulative 

evidence; and, (3) whether the trial court properly 

instructed the jury to disregard it.’ 

 

State v. Gamble, 168 Wn.2d 161, 177, 225 P.3d 973 (2010) (Citations and 

alterations omitted). An abuse of discretion exists when “no reasonable 

judge would have reached the same conclusion.” Sofie v. Fiberboard 

Corp., 112 Wn.2d 636, 667, 771 P.2d 711, corrected, 780 P.2d 260 

(1989). Only errors affecting the outcome of the trial will be deemed 

prejudicial. State v. Mak, 105 Wn.2d 692, 701, 718 P.2d 407 (1986) .  

Here, the defendant moved for a mistrial after the deputy sheriff 

testified that the defendant had “identified the bag as being hers … she did 

not want me to search the bag….” RP 96. Defendant claimed that the state 

had introduced evidence that she had exercised her constitutional rights as 
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evidence of her guilt. The trial court recessed the trial, heard argument, 

and reviewed the cited case law on the issue. RP 98-99. The trial court 

noted that the case law focused on whether the subject evidence had been 

introduced as substantive evidence of guilt, yet herein the evidence was 

offered to explain why the deputies had sought a search warrant for the 

vehicle and contents. RP 99-101. Nevertheless, the trial court did offer the 

defendant the option of having the court provide a curative instruction 

with regard to how the jury was to use that evidence. RP 101-104. The 

trial court proposed that the curative instruction would include that the 

jury was not to “infer guilt in any way” from the deputy’s testimony 

regarding defendant’s response. RP 103-104. The defendant did so request 

a curative instruction and the jury was instructed, “You are to infer no 

guilt upon the defendant’s exercise of these rights nor are you to consider 

this testimony during your deliberations.” CP 116-136 (Instruction No. 6).  

Applying the case law to the record herein, the trial court cannot be 

said to have abused its discretion in denying the motion for a mistrial. The 

jury heard evidence that the purses in which the contraband was found that 

was the basis for the charged offenses were found in a bucket seat that was 

solely occupied by the defendant; who was the last occupant to exit the 

vehicle and set nothing down upon exiting; and, the deputy’s initial 

contact with the vehicle driver was through the front passenger side 
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window. The reasonable inference from such evidence was that the purses, 

as defendant claimed to the Deputy, were her property. Additionally, the 

evidence before the jury was that the deputy inquired of all three 

occupants to whom the purses belonged and it was the defendant who 

volunteered her ownership and that the purses were not to be searched. 

The deputy’s response was to immediately set the purses aside and await 

the authorization afforded by a warrant to then search the contents thereof. 

Accordingly, no abuse of discretion occurred because the comment in the 

context of the entire record was cured by the curative instruction, so the 

trial court properly denied defendant’s motion. 

B. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY DENIED THE 

DEFENDANT’S SUPRESSION MOTION 

1. The Trial Court’s Conclusion of Law that the Consensual 

Search of the Vehicle and the Warrant-Based Search of 

Defendant’s Personal Items Was Legal Was Based Upon 

Substantial Evidence. 

At the pretrial hearing defendant argued that the traffic stop of the 

vehicle was pre-textual and illegal, and that the trial court should have 

suppressed any evidence discovered as a result thereof. On appeal, 

defendant assigns error to the trial court’s failure to suppress the evidence 

due to the allegedly illegal traffic stop. The defendant does not specifically 

assign error to the trial court’s factual findings based upon the evidence 

produced during the CrR 3.6 hearing. Instead, the defendant contends that 
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the trial court’s legal conclusion was erroneous that the evidence 

discovered during the search of the vehicle and defendant’s personal items 

was admissible. 

 A trial court's denial of a Criminal Rule (“CrR”) suppression 

motion is reviewed to determine whether substantial evidence supports the 

trial court's challenged findings of fact and, if so, whether the findings 

support the trial court's conclusions of law. State v. Cole, 122 Wn.App. 

319, 322-323, 93 P.3d 209 (2004). Defendant does not assign error to the 

trial court's factual findings, so they are verities on appeal. State v. 

O’Neill, 148 Wn.2d 564, 571, 62 P.3d 489 (2003). Accordingly, the 

factual findings that the traffic stop of the vehicle in which defendant was 

a passenger was not pre-textual, the search of the vehicle was consensual, 

and that the search warrant was validly issued are verities for this appeal. 

The issue, then, is whether the trial court’s factual findings support its 

legal conclusions. Cole, supra, at 322-323. A trial court’s conclusions of 

law are reviewed de novo. State v. Eisfeldt, 163 Wn.2d 628, 634, 185 P.3d 

580 (2008).  

As previously noted, the record created at the defendant’s pretrial 

suppression motion supported the trial court’s following legal conclusions: 

The traffic stop for speeding was valid. CP 88-91; RP 40, 42. The 

questioning of the three vehicle occupants was reasonable. CP 88-91; 
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RP 41. The three occupants were appropriately asked to exit the vehicle 

based upon officer safety concerns. CP 88-91; RP 41, 43. The search of 

the vehicle was consensual and valid based upon the driver’s initial verbal, 

and later, written consent. CP 88-91; RP 43. The search of the vehicle and 

its contents pursuant to the search warrant was valid and lawful. CP 88-91; 

RP 43. The search warrant sufficiently described the subject and objective 

of the search and was based upon probable cause. CP 88-91; RP 43-45. 

Accordingly, the trial court’s legal conclusion that the evidence discovered 

during the consensual search of the vehicle and search of her personal 

belongings pursuant to a search warrant was admissible was carefully 

reasoned and supported by the evidence.  

2. Alternatively, the Trial Court Properly Exercised Its 

Discretion in Admitting the Evidence Produced During the 

Search of the Vehicle and Defendant’s Personal Items. 

Defendant contends that the trial court erred in failing to suppress 

the evidence discovered during the consensual search of the vehicle and 

the warrant-based search of her personal belongings. The other side of the 

assignment of error is that the trial court abused its discretion in admitting 

the subject evidence.  

A trial court’s ruling on the admissibility of evidence is reviewed 

for abuse of discretion. State v. Darden, 145 Wn.2d 612, 619, 41 P.3d 

1189 (2002). That standard is well-recognized. State ex rel. Carroll v. 
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Junker, 79 Wn.2d 12, 482 P.2d 775 (1971). The court’s ruling regarding 

admissibility may be affirmed on any grounds adequately supported by the 

record. State v. Costich, 152 Wn.2d 463, 477, 98 P.3d 795 (2004). A trial 

court abuses its discretion when it relies on unsupported facts, takes a 

view that no reasonable person would take, applies the wrong legal 

standard, or bases its ruling on an erroneous view of the law. State v. Lord, 

161 Wn.2d 276, 284, 165 P.3d 1251 (2007).  

As previously noted, here, the record establishes that the vehicle in 

which defendant was a passenger was legally stopped by sheriff deputies. 

CP 88-91. The driver’s license was suspended. CP 88-91. None of the 

three occupants could identify the registered owner of the vehicle. CP 88-

91. Defendant spontaneously misidentified the registered owner of the 

vehicle. CP 88-91. The driver of the vehicle consented to the search of the 

vehicle without duress or coercion. CP 88-91. Evidence of criminal 

activity was in plain view (shave keys, open liquor container, and a credit 

card that was not identified with any of the occupants). CP 88-91. The 

consensual search of the vehicle discovered two digital scales with 

methamphetamine residue. CP 88-91. The three bags in the vehicle that 

the defendant identified as her personal property were set aside and not 

searched until a warrant was secured. CP 88-91. The execution of the 

warrant on the defendant’s three bags revealed a container with 
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methamphetamine, several pieces of identification belonging to defendant, 

a credit card and license belonging to Brendan Cassida which defendant 

did not have permission to possess, and two tobacco tins containing 199 

pills that included 6 different scheduled substances and 8 different legend 

drugs. CP 88-91. Clearly, the defendant has failed to show that the trial 

court’s evidentiary ruling constituted an abuse of discretion.  

C. SUFFICIENT EVIDENCE SUPPORTED THE JURY 

VERDICTS.  

 Defendant contends that insufficient evidence supported the jury 

verdicts finding the defendant guilty of the charged crimes. Defendant 

claims that the evidence did not support findings that she had knowingly 

possessed the identification of another or had possessed controlled 

substances.  

 The standard for adjudging the sufficiency of the evidence to support 

a verdict is whether, after viewing the evidence in a light most favorable to 

the State, any rational trier of fact could find that each element of the offense 

has been proved beyond a reasonable doubt. State v. Green, 94 Wn.2d 216, 

221-222, 616 P.2d 628 (1980). In reviewing the sufficiency of the evidence 

in a criminal case, the reviewing court must draw all reasonable inferences 

from the evidence in favor of the State and interpret those inferences most 

strongly against the defendant. State v. Lopez, 79 Wn.App. 755, 768, 904 
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P.2d 1179 (1995); State v. Hagler, 74 Wn.App. 232, 235, 872 P.2d 85 

(1994). In claiming insufficient evidence, the defendant necessarily admits 

the truth of the State’s evidence and all reasonable inferences that can be 

drawn therefrom. State v. Salinas, 119 Wn.2d 192, 201, 829 P.2d 1068 

(1992). Application of that standard requires affirming the convictions 

rendered by the jury. 

 Here, the evidence amply supported the jury’s verdicts that the 

defendant was guilty of: Count I Possession of a Controlled Substance- 

methamphetamine; Count II Possession of Another’s Identification; Count 

III Possession of a Controlled Substance – Alprazolam; and Count IV 

Possession of a Controlled Substance – Methylphenidate Hydrochloride. 

As noted previously, the evidence included that: the defendant claimed 

ownership of three bags that were observed inside the vehicle in which she 

was a passenger (RP 95-96, 104-107); a search warrant was obtained 

(RP 109) and executed upon her bags (RP 110); the execution of the 

search warrant discovered defendant’s identification (RP 110-114), a 

cylinder containing methamphetamine (RP 115), a credit card and 

Washington driver’s license for Brendan Cassida (RP 114-115) which 

defendant did not have permission to possess (RP 155-156), and two

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